Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 4/4/2023 by Florentino Jimenez, Deputy Clerk

S279242

Supreme Court Case No. S

2nd PETITION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAKE UC A GOOD NEIGHBORHOOD, et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, et al., Respondents,

RESOURCES FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, Real Party in Interest.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a published opinion of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division 5, Case No. A165451

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Make UC a Good Neighbor and The People's Park Historic District Advocacy Group ("Good Neighbor") petition for review of the following issues:

- 1. Where the Regents of the University of California ("UC") certified an environmental impact report ("EIR") for a Long Range Development Plan ("LRDP") for UC Berkeley ("UCB") whose purpose is to accommodate a large projected increase in campus enrollment and population and which is statutorily required to evaluate the environmental effects of the campus population plans, does the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") permit the EIR to omit analysis of a lower enrollment and population growth alternative:¹
- (a) simply by excluding the process for determining enrollment growth in its formal project description or formal statement of objectives?
- (b) based on contentions that a lower enrollment and population growth alternative would not meet one of fourteen project objectives and that UC does not have authority to enroll fewer students than the LRDP projects will enroll in the future.

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review is necessary to settle important questions of law and secure uniformity of decision by resolving conflicts in the appellate case law created by the Court of Appeal's Opinion in

¹CEQA is codified at Public Resources Code sections 21000 *et seq*. and in this Petition is cited as "CEQA section #."

this case. (Cal. Rules Court ("CRC"), rule 8.500(b)(1).)

The questions presented here arise in the context of an untenable imbalance between student enrollment and available housing at UCB. The Opinion describes this imbalance as follows:

UC Berkeley provides housing for only 23 percent of its students, by far the lowest percentage in the UC system. For years, enrollment increases have outpaced new student housing (or "beds"). The prior long range development plan, adopted in 2005, called for construction of just 2,600 beds through 2021. This was 10,000 beds short of the projected enrollment increases over the same period. The university only constructed 1,119 of those planned beds. Making matters worse, within two years of adopting the 2005 plan, the university increased enrollment beyond the plan's 2021 projection. By the 2018-2019 academic year, student enrollment exceeded the 2005 projections by more than 6,000 students. With a population of 39,708 students, the university provides housing for fewer than 9,000. This has transpired in the midst of a decades-long regional housing crisis.

(Op. 3.) The Opinion also notes that UCB's own survey demonstrates that "approximately 10 percent of undergraduates and approximately 20 percent of doctoral students had experienced homelessness while attending the university." (Op. 43.)²

²Similar imbalances between growth and provision of new housing have plagued other campuses and have resulted in settlement agreements in which UC campuses agreed to match enrollment growth to provision of additional student housing.

Despite the undisputed fact that enrollment driven increases in campus population at UCB cause a suite of adverse environmental impacts, and the fact that CEQA section 21080.09 makes adoption of a campus population plan part of an LRDP project and accommodation of that plan one of its purposes, the LRDP EIR at issue here omitted analysis of a lower enrollment and population growth alternative. The EIR did so based on its contentions that such an alternative would not meet one of 14 project objectives and that UC does not have authority to enroll fewer students than the LRDP's projects will enroll in the future. Good Neighbor challenged this omission because these reasons are erroneous as a matter of law or unsupported by substantial evidence, or both. The Court of Appeal did not rule on this claim.

Instead, the Opinion takes a different tack, holding that in selecting a range of reasonable alternatives for analysis in a LRDP EIR, CEQA authorizes California's public higher education institutions to omit analysis of an alternative that limits population growth that the LRDP is intended to accommodate simply by excluding the process for determining growth from its formal project description or formal statement of objectives. The Opinion states this new rule in different ways, which can be paraphrased as "an EIR is not required to analyze any alternative that consists of activities that are not within the EIR's formal project description or the EIR's formal statement of the project's objectives." (See Op. 11 ["an EIR is not required to analyze an

⁽Op. 11; AR14559, 1306-09, 1348-49, 1383-85.)

alternative that would change the nature of the project"]; Op. 13 ["The EIR is quite clear that setting enrollment levels is not the plan's purpose"].)

In holding that a lower enrollment and population growth alternative would "change the nature of the project" or is not within the scope of the LRDP's "objectives," the Opinion errs as a matter of law because CEQA section 21080.09 makes adoption of a campus population plan part of an LRDP project and accommodation of that plan one of its purposes. The Opinion thus presents a fundamental question regarding the scope of UC's statutory obligation to analyze the environmental effects of its enrollment and populations plans pursuant to CEQA. Good Neighbor petitions the Court to accept this issue for review, which is identified as Issue 1.(a) above.

The Legislature has acknowledged that growth in campus enrollment and facilities may negatively affect the surrounding environment, and stated its intent that UC mitigate significant off-campus impacts related to campus growth and development. (Ed. Code, § 67504(b)(1); Save Berkeley's Neighborhoods v. Regents of University of California (2020) 51 Cal.App.5th 226, 231 (SBN I).) Further, CEQA section 21080.09 requires that UC analyze the environmental effects of its campus population plans in an LRDP EIR.

While the Opinion enforces these legal requirements in the context of noise impacts of increasing campus population (Op. 30), in a surprising twist the Opinion undermines these legal requirements in the context of the LRDP EIR's analysis of a

range of reasonable alternatives. This holding, which includes an erroneous interpretation of CEQA section 21080.09, presents an important question of law.

UC's obligation to analyze a lower enrollment and population growth alternative in light of the statutory mandate that UC must subject LRDPs and their population plans to CEQA review also presents an important question of law because the legal obligation of California institutions of higher learning to analyze and mitigate the impacts of their operations on surrounding communities and their environments is of great and continuing public interest. This is shown by several recent Court of Appeal and Supreme Court decision interpreting and applying CEQA's requirements as they apply to such institutions. (See e.g., City of San Diego v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2015) 61 Cal.4th 945, 959-961 (City of San Diego); City of Marina v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2006) 39 Cal.4th 341, 355-362 (City of Marina); SBN I, supra.) Therefore, resolution of the question presented would advance the public interest.

"CEQA was enacted to advance four related purposes: to (1) inform the government and public about a proposed activity's potential environmental impacts; (2) identify ways to reduce, or avoid, environmental damage; (3) prevent environmental damage by requiring project changes via alternatives or mitigation measures when feasible; and (4) disclose to the public the rationale for governmental approval of a project that may significantly impact the environment." (Union of Medical

Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of San Diego (2019) 7 Cal.5th 1171, 1184-1185 (Medical Marijuana). "The EIR is the heart of CEQA, and the mitigation and alternatives discussion forms the core of the EIR." (In re Bay-Delta (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1143, 1162 (Bay-Delta).)

The question presented in this petition is a particularly important question of law. At stake is the public's right to be informed whether it is potentially feasible for UC to pursue an alternative to its projected population growth that would reduce or avoid potential significant impacts of this growth. This court should grant review to settle the question.

The Opinion's new rule of decision also directly conflicts with a well-developed body of case law. Many appellate decisions hold that where a proposed alternative is potentially feasible and would substantially reduce a project's environmental impacts, an EIR cannot exclude analysis of the alternative simply because it does not meet all project objectives. (Watsonville Pilots Assn. v. City of Watsonville (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1059, 1089 (Watsonville); Habitat & Watershed Caretakers v. City of Santa Cruz (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1277, 1304 (Caretakers).) The case law holds that, to be eligible for analysis in an EIR, an alternative need not even meet the project's "key", "fundamental," or "primary" objectives. (Association of Irritated Residents v. County of Madera (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 1383, 1400 (AIR); California Native Plant Society v. City of Santa Cruz (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 957, 991(CNPS); Mira Mar Mobile Community v. City of Oceanside (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 477, 488-489 (Mira Mar).)

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision by resolving this conflict created by the Opinion. (CRC, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Regarding Good Neighbor's challenge to the LRDP EIR's omission of analysis of a lower enrollment/population growth alternative because its stated reasons are erroneous as a matter of law or unsupported by substantial evidence, the Court of Appeal did not rule on this claim. Good Neighbor petitions this Court to accept this issue for review, which is identified as Issue 1.(b) above.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Relevant Facts and Administrative Decision.

UC is required to periodically adopt an LRDP following preparation, consideration, and certification of an EIR. (CEQA, §§ 21100(a), 21080.09; Ed. Code, § 67504; SBN I, supra, 51 Cal.App.5th at 239-240.) In 2005 UC adopted its "2020 LRDP", which projected campus populations growth through 2020. (AR14190-94) In 2021, UC adopted its "LRDP Update", which projected campus population growth through 2037. (AR57.) The purpose of the LRDP Update is to guide campus development and to accommodate increased population. (CEQA, § 21080.09(a)(2); AR9549, 9486-87, 14218.)

Between 2005 and 2037, UC Berkeley's ("UCB") past and projected future population growth exceeds 40 percent, by adding almost 16,000 students and increasing total population by almost 20,000, from 47,704 to 67,200. Growth in student enrollment accounts for 79 percent of this increase.

Enrollment/	Under-	Graduate	Total	Faculty/	Totals
Population	graduate		Students	Staff	
2005-06	32,	886	32,886	14,818	47,704
2018-19	29,932	9,776	39,708	15,421	55,129
2036-37	35,000	13,200	48,200	19,000	67,200

(AR9572 [Table 3-1], 14193 [Table 5-3].) A primary driver of the LRDP Update's construction program is to provide facilities and housing for this steadily increasing population. (AR9551-53, 10353-54, 14194-95.)

The EIR projects that UCB will substantially increase population from 2018 to 2037 by 12,071 (from 55,129 to 67,200), and that 71 percent of all students and 29 percent of all faculty will live in Berkeley. (AR10104-05.) The LRDP Update will add at least 13,902 residents to Berkeley for whom UC plans to provide housing (AR10112) and another 8,173 residents to Berkeley and nearby jurisdictions for whom UC will not provide housing. (AR10116.)

In discussing impacts of UCB's 2007-2019 unplanned population growth, i.e., growth not evaluated in the 2005 LRDP EIR, the EIR acknowledges that certain impacts are caused by physical development, while other impacts are caused directly by population increases, i.e., "population is a metric of analysis." (AR14194-95.) The EIR concludes that impacts related to air quality, greenhouse gas ("GHG"), noise, population and housing, public services, and parks and recreation are population-driven. (AR14195, 14787.) For these impacts, the EIR and Findings found significant impacts to GHG, population and housing, and transportation, reducible to less-than-significant by mitigation.

(AR9931, 10118, 10121, 10221, 172, 177-179.) They also found an unavoidably significant impact on air quality. (AR9702, 180.)

Although the EIR acknowledges that population growth drives impacts, it did not analyze a lower enrollment/population growth alternative. Instead, the DEIR analyzed four alternatives, each of which assumed the same level of enrollment, staff, and faculty population growth. (AR10356, 10360 [Table 6-1, notes c, d].) The DEIR assessed the "No Project," "Reduced Development Program," "Reduced VMT," and "Increased Faculty and Student Housing" alternatives. (AR10358-59.) The DEIR also formulated, but rejected without evaluation, five other alternatives. (AR10355-58.) These include a "Reduced Graduate Program and Research" alternative, which would reduce "graduate student enrollment and reduce or eliminate graduate programs, professional schools, academic research functions, and policy institutes, as well as associated faculty, staff, housing, and facilities." (AR10355.)

The EIR refused to analyze a lower enrollment increase alternative based on two rationales. For graduate and non-resident undergraduate students, the EIR assert that that reducing the projected enrollment increase is not potentially feasible because such an alternative would be inconsistent with only one of the 14 formally-stated objectives of the LRDP Update. The EIR admits that UC can limit its graduate student population, research programs and associated faculty and staff, but contends that such limitation "would conflict with the objective of maintaining, supporting, and enhancing UC

Berkeley's status as an internationally renowned public research-intensive institution and center for scientific and academic advancement." (AR10355-56, 9551-52.) As discussed below, UC cannot lawfully omit analysis of an alternative that meets the majority of the EIR's objectives and reduces impacts simply because the alternative does not fully achieve one objective.

For resident undergraduate students, the EIR asserts that lowering projected enrollment growth is not potentially feasible because UC lacks discretion to do so. The EIR contends that UC cannot control undergraduate enrollment because targets "are established to ensure UC is meeting commitments to the State, as required in the State of California Education Code and identified in the California Master Plan for Higher Education." (AR10355.) The EIR asserts that the LRDP merely "accommodates enrollment projections that occur under separate processes" (AR14218), i.e., the annual campus enrollment targets set by University of California Office of the President (UCOP). (AR14175.) As discussed below, the contention that the UC cannot control UCB enrollment is legally erroneous and is unsupported by substantial evidence.

Comments objected to the DEIR's failure to analyze a lower enrollment/population growth alternative that could be accommodated by provision of local housing and public services. (AR14261-64, 14360, 14535, 14541-42, 14554-55, 14561-63, 14564-66, 14773-76, 14788-90, 15046.) These commenters also objected that the EIR fails to propose adequate measures to avoid

or reduce impacts related to transportation, air quality, GHG, noise, and population and housing. (See, e.g., AR14597-98, 14558-59, 14230, 14233, 14234, 14294-95, 14340-41, 14997-98.) Comments specifically objected to failure to analyze lower enrollment/population growth to reduce or avoid these impacts. (AR14260-65, 14388, 14394, 14558-59, 14788-90.)

Comments also objected to a failure to identify or adopt feasible means to avoid or reduce the LRDP Update's significant air quality impact (AIR-1), caused by exceeding the 2017 Clean Air Plan population projections. (AR14303-14304.) UC ultimately failed to mitigate this impact and declared it unavoidable. (AR180-181.) A lower enrollment/population growth alternative would have at least reduced this significant impact.

The comments pointed out that UC had considered a "Reduced Enrollment Growth Alternative" in its previous LRDP as "a comprehensive alternative that would address multiple impacts and concerns." (AR14360.) And the comments pointed out that in adopting LRDPs for three other UC campuses UC has capped enrollment growth, or phased it, so as not to exceed available student housing. (AR14559, 14509, 14535, 14502, 15204-05, 1306-09, 1348-49, 14736, 14774-75.) Therefore, a lower enrollment/population growth alternative is at least potentially feasible.

In its responses to these comments, the Final EIR ("FEIR") contends such an alternative is not feasible because there are statutory constraints on resident undergraduate admissions and that lowering graduate student enrollment growth would conflict

with a single project objective. (AR14218, 14175-14177.)

However, because the FEIR admits that UC may limit, and has previously limited, enrollment of non-resident undergraduates, the FEIR justifies refusing to analyze an alternative limiting their enrollment by arguing that such a limitation would conflict with the LRDP Update's academic status objective because some non-residents are "highly qualified" and "may advance into graduate programs and faculty positions." (AR14218.)

UC's CEQA Findings adopt the EIR's arguments. (AR203.)

On July 22, 2021, UC certified the EIR for the 2021 LRDP Update for the UC Berkeley campus, as well as Housing Project #1 and Housing Project #2, which were reviewed at the project level; made CEQA findings; adopted a statement of overriding considerations for significant unmitigated impacts; and approved the LRDP and Housing Project #1. (AR1-2, 156-210 [findings].) On or about September 30, 2021, UC approved Housing Project #2. (AR3.)

B. The Decisions Below.

Appellants filed their First Amended and Supplemental Petition for Writ of Mandate challenging the Project, including Housing Project #2. (Joint Appendix ("JA") 7.) After briefing and oral argument, the trial court denied the petition for writ of mandate on all issues. (JA 313.) Good Neighbor appealed. (JA 331.)

After briefing, a tentative decision, and supplemental briefing, the Court of Appeal issued its decision reversing the trial court judgement as to some issues but not as to the failure of the EIR to analyze a lower enrollment/population growth alternative.

As noted above, because it held that the EIR was not required to analyze a lower enrollment/population growth alternative, the Court did not reach Good Neighbor's arguments that the EIR's refusal to analyze this alternative was based on legal errors. (Op. 11-15.)

IV. GOVERNING LAW AND STANDARD OF REVIEWA. CEQA's Mandate for Analysis of Alternatives.

CEQA requires an EIR to identify feasible alternatives that could avoid or substantially lessen the project's significant environmental effects. (CEQA, §§ 21002, 21100(b)(4).) This is a substantive mandate because "public agencies should not approve projects as proposed if there are feasible alternatives or feasible mitigation measures available which would substantially lessen the significant environmental effects of such projects." (CEQA, § 21002.)

"One of [an EIR's] major functions ... is to ensure that all reasonable alternatives to proposed projects are thoroughly assessed by the responsible official." (Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 565 (Goleta II); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14 ("Guidelines"), § 15126.6.) "The EIR is the heart of CEQA, and the mitigation and alternatives discussion forms the core of the EIR." (Bay-Delta, supra, 43 Cal.4th at 1162.)

The range of alternatives requires "enough of a variation to allow informed decisionmaking." (Save Our Capitol! v.

Department of General Services (2023) 87 Cal.App.5th 655, 703 (Save Our Capitol!), quoting Mann v. Community Redevelopment Agency (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1143, 1151.)

B. Standard of Review.

"The foremost principle under CEQA is that the Legislature intended the act 'to be interpreted in such manner as to afford the fullest possible protection to the environment within the reasonable scope of the statutory language." (Sierra Club v. County of Fresno (2018) 6 Cal.5th 502, 511 (County of Fresno) (citations omitted).) An EIR must reflect a good faith effort at full disclosure, including "detail sufficient to enable those who did not participate in its preparation to understand and to consider meaningfully the issues raised by the proposed project." (Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of the Univ. of Cal. (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 405 (Laurel Heights I); Guidelines, § 15151.)

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