### Case No. S279242

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### MAKE UC A GOOD NEIGHBOR ET AL.

Petitioners and Appellants,

 $\mathcal{V}.$ 

#### THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA ET AL.

Respondents.

#### **RESOURCES FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT**

Real Party in Interest.

After a published opinion by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A165451

Appeal from July 29, 2022, Order and August 2, 2022 Order and Judgment of the Alameda Superior Court; Hon. Frank Roesch, Dept. 17, Case No. RG21110142 (Consolidated for Purposes of Trial Only with Case Nos. RG21109910, RG21110157, 21CV000995 and 21CV001919)

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

## D. The Opinion's holding is fact-specific with little application to other parties and cases.

Appellants make no attempt to explain how the Opinion's holding could affect other parties or cases, or is of any statewide significance. Absent such an explanation, this Court should deny review. The Opinion's holding on alternatives is limited to the specific facts at issue here, i.e., an LRDP prepared for a 150-year old urban campus at one of the State's premier public universities with limited physical space to accommodate projected demand and limited control over its undergraduate student enrollment. There is no broader issue of concern meriting this Court's review.

## II. THERE WAS NO LEGAL ERROR IN THE EIR'S ANALYSIS OF ALTERNATIVES TO THE LRDP THAT WARRANTS REVIEW

In opposition to Appellants' arguments below that CEQA required UCB to analyze a lower enrollment alternative, the Regents argued that such an alternative would be inconsistent with UCB's underlying educational mission and is infeasible because UCB does not have the authority Appellants imagine to limit resident undergraduate enrollment. (Opposition Brief, pp. 25-37.) On reply below, Appellants attacked these arguments on the same bases they repeat in their petition for review. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal correctly determined it did not need to reach these issues because the EIR already evaluated a reasonable range of alternatives. (Slip. Op., at pp. 15-16.) Based on Appellants' faulty premise that the LRDP includes adoption of a population plan, Appellants reargue the issues they raised below and ask this Court to (1) ignore UCB's underlying educational mission, and (2) discount the Board of Regents' inherent discretion to weigh the advantages and disadvantages of the proposed LRDP and potential alternatives to the proposed LRDP. In doing so, Appellants again fail to identify any important question of law or conflict in appellate decisions meriting this Court's review. This Court should deny review of these unique, fact-specific issues, which the Opinion did not reach.

## A. Evaluating project objectives is a policy decision entrusted to the Board of Regents.

Appellants argue that "because significant impacts are driven by the LRDP's projected population growth," the absence of a lower enrollment alternative in the EIR impermissibly deprived the public and decisionmakers "of comparative information regarding environmental costs and benefits need to evaluate which alternative to adopt." (Petition, p. 41.) Appellants claim this is "legal error." That is not the case.

First, "[t]here is no ironclad rule governing the nature or scope of the alternatives to be discussed [in an EIR] other than the rule of reason." (Guidelines, § 15126.6, subd. (a), (f).) "The 'rule of reason' requires an EIR 'to set forth only those alternatives necessary to permit a reasoned choice."" (*Tiburon Open Space Committee v. County of Marin* (2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 700, 741 ("*Tiburon*"), citing Guidelines, § 15126.6, subd. (f).) "While it is up to the EIR preparer to identify alternatives as potentially feasible, the decisionmaking body 'may or may not reject those alternatives as being infeasible' when it comes to project approval. … Like mitigation measures,

potentially feasible alternatives 'are suggestions which may or may not be adopted by the decisionmakers.'" (*California Native Plant Society v. City of Santa Cruz* (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 957, 999 ("*CNPS*"), citations omitted; see Guidelines, § 15091, subd. (a)(3).) Courts "will uphold an agency's choice of alternatives unless they 'are manifestly unreasonable and ... do not contribute to a reasonable range of alternatives.'" (*Tiburon, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th at p. 741, citing *Federation of Hillside & Canyon Associations v. City of Los Angeles* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 1252, 1265.)

Here, as explained above, the EIR *did* consider Appellants' proposed "Reduced or Capped Enrollment Alternative" and explained the numerous reasons this alternative is not feasible within a "Master Response" on alternatives. (AR14218; AR14209-21.) In connection with their approval of the LRDP, the Board of Regents also adopted a finding explaining the many reasons a reduced or capped enrollment alternative is not feasible. Specifically:

[T]he proposed LRDP Update does not determine future UC Berkeley enrollment or population, or set a future population limit for UC Berkeley, but guides land development and physical infrastructure to support enrollment projections and activities coordinated by the University of California Office of the President. As such, the proposed project accommodates enrollment projections that occur under separate processes. Furthermore, [the EIR's] Reduced Graduate Program and Research Alternative, describes an alternative that would reduce or cap student enrollment under UC Berkeley's graduate program, over which UC Berkeley has more control. However, graduate students are vital elements of UC

Berkeley's research endeavors and teaching resources; in any given semester, approximately 2,000 graduate student instructors work with UC Berkeley students in studios, laboratories, and discussion sections. Reducing or eliminating UC Berkeley's graduate and professional schools or academic research and policy institutes would conflict with the proposed LRDP Update's project objective of maintaining, supporting, and enhancing UC Berkeley's status as an internationally renowned public research-intensive institution and center for scientific and academic advancement. Therefore, this alternative was considered but rejected because it would not meet a core project objective. Similarly, reducing nonresident undergraduates (currently capped at 24.4 percent, though there is a pending proposal to reduce the cap to 18 percent) would also conflict with UC Berkeley's objective of maintaining, supporting, and enhancing its status as an internationally renowned center for scientific and academic advancement by providing opportunities for highly qualified nonresident students, some of whom may advance into graduate programs and faculty positions.

#### (AR203.)

Underlying the Board of Regents' decision-making was their recognition of the fact that UCB is a world-renowned public research university that, in the 2018-19 academic year, offered over 350 degree programs for nearly 40,000 students, supported by approximately 15,400 faculty and staff. (AR5.) The Regents also recognized that as an urban campus with limited land resources, the Berkeley campus desires to be a low-growth campus to ensure that it can provide adequate facilities to support its long-term academic excellence. (AR5-6.) With respect to environmental factors, the Regents acknowledged the campus's compliance with the UC's Sustainable Practices Policy, noting that "UC Berkeley has lower total [greenhouse gas] emissions now than in 2005, despite nearly one million [gross square feet] of net new space and nearly 8,000 net new students." (AR10.) Addressing community concerns about population growth, the Regents explained, "LRDP population projections are for planning purposes, to establish the LRDP development program, and do not mandate or commit the campus to specific levels of student enrollment or overall growth. In general, enrollment growth is driven by a directive to absorb a reasonable proportion of the increasing enrollment in the UC system as a whole, as mandated by the State of California. Demand for a UC Berkeley education continues to increase." (AR11-12.)

Moreover, the Regents, and the EIR, recognized "[t]he overall UC Berkeley population growth (which includes graduate students, faculty, and staff in addition to students) supports UC Berkeley's educational mission and the management and maintenance of UC Berkeley resources and infrastructure." (AR10103.) And the LRDP sets the planning framework "for a level of enrollment necessary to achieve the UC's educational mission." (AR10118.) Thus, the enrollment projections identified in the LRDP, which reflect a reasonable proportion of the increasing enrollment in the UC system as a whole and the demand for a Berkeley education in particular, are essential to achieving UCB's educational mission.

These policy considerations and others (see AR4-25) directly informed the Board of Regents' ultimate finding that a reduced enrollment alternative is not feasible. (AR196; AR14218.) They also informed its conclusion that the benefits of the LRDP, including advancement of "California's economic, social and cultural development, which depends upon broad access to an educational system that prepares all of the State of California's inhabitants for responsible citizenship and meaningful careers," outweigh its environmental impacts. (AR209.)

In advocating for a reduced or capped enrollment alternative, Appellants invite this Court to find fault with the Regents' policy determination that it would be neither feasible nor desirable, considering all relevant factors, to stifle UCB's educational mission as a world class public university and prohibit it from enrolling a reasonable proportion of the increasing student population of the UC system as a whole. (AR10103.) This Court should decline the invitation. No legitimate public purpose would be served (and Appellants have suggested none) for further consideration of a reduced enrollment alternative even more at odds with the LRDP's objectives. "The purpose of CEQA is not to generate paper," and the reviewing court should not "substitute [its] judgment" for the decision-making body. (*Citizens for a Green San Mateo v. San Mateo County Community College Dist.* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1572, 1586-87.) Feasibility "under CEQA encompasses 'desirability' to the extent that desirability is based on a reasonable balancing of the relevant economic, environmental, social, and technological factors." (City of Del Mar v. City of San Diego (1982) 133 Cal.App.3d 401, 417.) And project opponents' disagreement with a lead agency's policy determinations does not demonstrate a lack of evidentiary support for the agency's conclusions. (CNPS, supra, 177 Cal.App.4th at p. 1003.) Further, the "rules regulating" the protection of the environment must not be subverted into an instrument

for the oppression and delay of social, economic, or recreational development and advancement." (*Citizens of Goleta Valley v. Board of Supervisors* (1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 576; see also *Tiburon, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th at p. 781-782.)

There is no legal error meriting this Court's review.

# B. Appellants misrepresent the Regents' ability to limit resident undergraduate enrollment.

As they did below, Appellants overstate and mischaracterize the Regents' authority to limit resident undergraduate enrollment. The EIR does not "admit" or "concede" any of the discretion over enrollment Appellants imagine. In fact, the EIR explains that "the UC conducts longrange enrollment planning to comprehensively assess enrollment-related issues such as workforce needs, academic programs, and the ability of UC facilities to meet future needs." (AR10098.) Further, as discussed above, the California Master Plan for Higher Education guarantees access to UC campuses for the top 12.5 percent of the state's public high school graduates and qualified transfer students from California community colleges. (AR9548; AR14175.) The California Education Code also contains several provisions mandating enrollment access levels. (See AR10096-97.) Specifically, Section 66011, subdivision (a) of the Education Code provides that "all resident applicants to California institutions of public higher education, who are determined to be qualified by law or by admission standards established by the respective governing boards, should be admitted to either (1) a district of the California Community Colleges, in accordance with Section 76000, (2) the California State University, or (3) the University of California." Education Code section 66202.5 states, "The

37

State of California reaffirms its historic commitment to ensure adequate resources to support enrollment growth, within the systemwide academic and individual campus plans to accommodate eligible California freshmen applicants and eligible California Community College transfer students, as specified in Sections 66202 and 66730. The University of California and the California State University are expected to plan that adequate spaces are available to accommodate all California resident students who are eligible and likely to apply to attend an appropriate place within the system." Section 66741 of the Education Code also requires acceptance of qualified transfer students at the advanced standing level.

The settlement agreements at other UC campuses also do not demonstrate the Regents could have, or should have, capped enrollment at UCB. The agreement with UC Davis does not limit enrollment; rather, it commits the campus to provide on-campus housing for 100 percent of new students over the baseline population identified in its 2018 LRDP EIR and to make a financial payment to the City of Davis if the beds are not constructed by a certain date. (AR1383-84.) Similarly, the agreements involving UC Santa Cruz and UC Santa Barbara, in 2005 and 2010, respectively, tied enrollment growth to providing on-campus housing. (AR1306-11; AR1348-51.) To the extent any of these agreements limit student enrollment growth, the limit is commensurate with the growth projections analyzed in each campus's LRDP EIR. Of note, these agreements significantly predate the substantial enrollment growth experienced system-wide in 2016, which resulted from an agreement with the state Legislature that tied UC's budget to increased undergraduate enrollment. (AR14176.) Such agreements would simply not work at UCB,

a flagship UC campus, in an urban setting, that receives a very high number of freshmen and transfer applications and does not have space for oncampus housing. (AR14533-34.)

The circumstances here are thus readily distinguishable from Appellants' cited cases. In City of Marina, the Fort Ord Reuse Authority ("FORA") challenged an EIR prepared by the Board of Trustees of the California State University ("Trustees"). (City of Marina v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2006) 39 Cal.4th 341.) The Trustees disclaimed any obligation to mitigate and share costs of infrastructure improvements proposed by FORA on the grounds that the California Constitution prohibited it from making voluntary mitigation payments. (Id. at p. 356.) After examining the plain language of the California Constitution, legal precedent, and legislative enactments, this Court concluded it "may easily reject the Trustees' argument that they may not lawfully contribute to FORA as a way of discharging their obligation under CEQA to mitigate the environmental effects of their project." (Id. at p. 359.) Likewise, in City of San Diego, this Court rejected the Trustees' argument that a state agency may contribute funds for off-site environmental mitigation only through earmarked appropriations, to the exclusion of other possible sources of funding. (City of San Diego v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2015) 61 Cal.4th 945, 950.) By contrast, capping undergraduate enrollment here would substantially conflict with state directives and UCB's fundamental mission. (AR9548; AR14173-74; AR14178; AR30885-86.)

Additionally, reducing the already low projected annual undergraduate growth anticipated at the UCB campus under the LRDP

39

(AR14177 [one percent annual enrollment growth]) would have ripple effects across the entire UC system, disturbing the Legislative directive for each UC campus to absorb a reasonable proportion of increasing undergraduate enrollment. (AR10096-97; AR14174-77.) This is because UC must offer a seat at one of its nine undergraduate campuses to every California resident undergraduate applicant in the top 12.5 percent of the state's public high school graduates and qualified transfer students from California community colleges. (AR9548-49; AR30885; AR53783.) This growth is spread across all campuses in the system, including UCB. (AR14176.) Thus, pushing enrollment down at one campus may push it up at others, with unintended consequences.

In sum, substantial evidence supported the Regents' determination that it would be infeasible to lower or cap enrollment at UCB through the LRDP process. Moreover, there is nothing about this fact-bound, recorddependent issue that warrants this Court's review.

#### CONCLUSION

The Regents respectfully request that the Court deny review of the issues Appellants present.